

ASB Best Practice Recommendation 089, First Edition
~~2018~~2019

**Best Practice Recommendation for Facial
Approximation in Forensic Anthropology**

DRAFT



Best Practice Recommendation for Facial Approximation in Forensic Anthropology

ASB Approved Xxxxx ~~2018~~2019

ANSI Approved Xxxxx ~~2018~~2019



410 North 21st Street
Colorado Springs, CO 80904

This document may be downloaded for free at: www.asbstandardsboard.org

This document is provided by the AAFS Standards Board for free. You are permitted to print and download the document and extracts from the document for your own use, provided that:

- *you do not modify this document or its related graphics in any way;*
- *you do not use any illustrations or any graphics separately from any accompanying text; and,*
- *you include an acknowledgement alongside the copied material noting the AAFS Standards Board as the copyright holder and publisher.*

You expressly agree not to reproduce, duplicate, copy, sell, resell, or exploit for any commercial purposes, this document or any portion of it. You may create a hyperlink to www.asbstandardsboard.org to allow persons to download their individual, free copy of this document. Your hyperlink must not portray AAFS, the AAFS Standards Board, this document, our agents, associates and affiliates in an offensive manner, or be misleading or false. You may not use our trademarks as part of your link without our written agreement for you to do so.

The AAFS Standards Board retains the sole right to submit this document to any other forum for any purpose.

Certain commercial entities, equipment or materials may be identified in this document to describe a procedure or concept adequately. Such identification is not intended to imply recommendations or endorsement by the AAFS or the AAFS Standards Board, nor is it intended to imply that the entities, materials, or equipment are necessarily the best available for the purpose.

*This document is copyrighted © by the AAFS Standards Board, LLC. ~~2018~~2019 All rights are reserved.
410 North 21st Street, Colorado Springs, CO 80904, ~~asb.aafs~~www.asbstandardsboard.org.*

Foreword

This best practice recommendation was developed to provide guidance to practitioners for producing facial approximations from skeletal remains. Facial approximations (~~historically, but inappropriately also~~ referred to as facial reproduction ~~or~~, facial reconstruction ~~or facial depiction~~) are produced for the purpose of generating investigative leads in cases involving unidentified human remains by estimating the antemortem facial appearance of an individual. The production of facial approximations should be a joint effort among experts from the fields of anthropology, anatomy, and forensic art. Knowledge of human cranial and soft tissue variation and anatomy, as well as artistic ability, is essential for the production of useful facial images. Various methods (e.g., two-dimensional, ~~and~~ three-dimensional, ~~and computer-based~~) and techniques (e.g., sketch, clay, ~~and digital~~) are accepted means of producing facial approximations. Facial approximations are ~~generated to elicit recognition of an individual and are~~ solely for investigative purposes and should not be used as evidence contributing to ~~a personal-identification~~ of unidentified remains.

This document was revised, prepared and finalized as a Best Practice Recommendation by the Anthropology Consensus Body of the AAFS Standards Board (ASB). The initial draft document was developed by the Anthropology Subcommittee of the Organization of Scientific Area Committees (OSAC) using the document initially published by the Scientific Working Group of Forensic Anthropology (SWGANTH) and recognizing facial approximation from skeletal remains as an important part of the investigation of unidentified human remains. This document is intended to assist forensic anthropologists and forensic artists when producing facial approximations from skeletal remains.

All hyperlinks and web addresses shown in this document are current as of the publication date of this standard.

Keywords: *facial approximation; forensic anthropology; forensic art; personal identification; unidentified remains*

Table of Contents

1	Scope	1
2	Normative References	1
3	Terms and Definitions	1
4	Requirements	2
4.1	Procedure.....	2
4.2	Considerations	2
4.3	Reporting	2
	Annex A (informative) Bibliography.....	3

DRAFT

Best Practice Recommendation for Facial Approximation in Forensic Anthropology

1 Scope

This best practice recommendation sets forth guidance for facial approximation from skeletal remains. The production and assessment of facial approximations using skeletal remains represents a combination of varied methods of art and anatomical science that continue to evolve. Therefore, recommendations for specific techniques are not addressed. Facial imaging procedures such as composite drawings and postmortem imaging from photographs are not addressed.

2 Normative References

There are no normative reference documents. Annex A, Bibliography, contains informative references.

3 Terms and Definitions

For purposes of this document, the following definitions apply.

3.1

facial approximation

An investigative technique combining anatomical knowledge, artistic capability, and forensic anthropological evidence to render an estimate of an individual's facial appearance in life.

3.2

personal identification

The association of a set of remains to a known individual.

4 Requirements

4.1 General

Facial approximation methods should be employed with a spirit of scientific integrity: subjective interpretation should be limited; scientifically tested and published methods should be used, when possible; and method weaknesses and limitations should be communicated. Information from remnant soft tissues and genetic tests can be included into the facial approximation.

The production of facial approximations should be a joint effort among experts from the fields of anthropology, anatomy, and forensic art. Knowledge of human cranial and soft tissue variation and anatomy, as well as artistic ability, is essential for the production of useful facial images. Extensive training, education and experience in these fields are essential. Although some individuals may possess all of these skills, a team approach usually is necessary.

Practitioners should implement this best practice recommendation to the fullest extent as applicable, practical, and appropriate.

4.2 Procedure

The production of facial approximations should incorporate information about the individual from the recovery scene and as determined from skeletal analysis by a qualified forensic anthropologist.

Various methods published in peer reviewed journals (e.g., two-dimensional, three-dimensional, and computer-based) and techniques (e.g., sketch, sculpture) are accepted means of producing facial approximations.

~~The scientific and anatomical soundness of these methods should be used to evaluate their effectiveness.~~

Facial approximation images should be carefully evaluated against the developed based on skeletal evidence, and the result should be evaluated by all relevant specialists (e.g. anthropologists, forensic pathologist, law enforcement, etc.) before they are publicly disseminated.

Morphologically accurate copies of skeletal material ~~and not the skeletal material itself should, produced in a non-destructive manner (e.g. 3D scan printing), should~~ be used as the physical base for sculpted approximations and the skeletal material itself should not be used. If copies cannot be produced without damaging the original material, 2D approximations should be conducted instead.

The practitioner should have access to all relevant information from the scene (e.g. photos, personal belongings recovered with remains, etc.) and the skeletal material to examine relevant features for facial approximation.

The following practices are considered unacceptable and should be avoided when producing facial approximations.

- a) The use of facial approximations as a means of ~~personal~~ identification of unidentified remains.
- b) The production of facial approximations without the requisite input from anthropological analyses. Likewise, practitioners should not attempt facial approximations without requisite skill and training in forensic art.
- c) Any practice that unnecessarily jeopardizes the integrity of the evidence.

4.3 Considerations

Facial approximations ~~are may~~ not ~~meant to represent~~ produce the exact likeness of an individual. Given the difficulty in scientifically assessing the variation in human faces and developing tissue depth measurements, statements regarding the accuracy /success of facial approximation methods should be carefully presented.

4.4 Reporting

Reports or other means of communication accompanying the production of facial approximations should include statements explaining that facial approximations are solely for investigative purposes and should not be used as evidence contributing to ~~a personal~~ identification of unidentified remains.

No forensic facial image should be released/provided to an investigative agency/disseminated without a clear statement of purpose accompanying it such as “This facial image is the most likely appearance of the person in life, based on available information. It is not intended to be an exact likeness or portrait.”

DRAFT

Annex A
(informative)

Bibliography

- 1] Prag, J., Neave, R., *Making Faces*. British Museum Press, London, 1997.
- 2] Stephan, Carl. "Craniofacial identification: techniques of facial approximation and craniofacial superimposition." *Handbook of Forensic Anthropology and Archaeology*, edited by Soren Blau and Douglas H. Ubelaker. Left Coast Press, Walnut Creek, 2009, pp 304 -321.
- 3] Taylor, K.T., *Forensic Art and Illustration*, CRC Press, Boca Raton, 2000.
- 4] Wilkinson, C., *Forensic Facial Reconstruction*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2004.

DRAFT

DRAFT



Academy Standards Board
410 North 21st Street
Colorado Springs, CO 80904

www.asbstandardsboard.org